Oskowis v. Sedong Oak-Creek Unified School District &#035;9 et al Doc.[22
1| WO
2
3
4
5
6 IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
7 FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
8
9| Matthew Oskowis, No. CV-17-08197-PCT-DLR
10 Plaintiff, ORDER
11) .
12| Sedona Oak-Creek Unified School District
13 #9, et al.,
14 Defendants.
15
16 At issue is Defendants Sedona Oak-Creek Unified School District #9 (‘the
171l District”), David D. Lykins Scott Keller, and Tiffany lson’s motion for judgment on
18|| the pleadings, which is fully briefed. (Dodks, 18, 20.) Neither party requested oral
19| argument. For the following reasons, Defendants’ motion is granted.
20|l I. Background®
21 Plaintiff Matthew Oskowis’ son, E.O., iseverely autistic. (Doc. 1 { 59.) As
22| such, he is a child w a disability as defined by e¢hindividuals withDisabilities Act
23| (“IDEA”"). 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1401(RA). Under IDEA, the Districhas a duty to provide E.O
24| with a “free appropriate plib education” (“FAPE”). Id. § 1401(9). This FAPE is
25| implemented through an “individualized edtion program” (“IEP”), a written statement
26 ! For purposes of this order, the facts gaie in Plaintiff's complaint are taken af
true. See Elvig v. CalvirPresbyterian Church375 F.3d 951, 955 {9 Cir. 2004) (stating
27 that, in ruling on a Rule 12(c) mation, the commtist accept as true all allegations in the
plaintiffs complaint and treaas false the allegations the defendants’ answer that
28| contradict the plaintiff's allegations).
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detailing how a school district intends talda public education to a disabled child’s
needs. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(d3.0O.’s IEP provides for daily bus transportation to and fr¢
school. (Doc. 18 at 4-5.)

In November 2015, Plaintiff noticedah E.O.’s school bus was arriving at h
home for pickup after the scheduled startlod school day. (Doc. 1 1 50-51.) Upc
further investigation, Plaintiff discovered E'©bus was regularlyraving at school up
to an hour late because of a circuitous iservoute that pickedp and dropped off high
school students before dropginff E.O. and his classmate$ 52-54.) Plaintiff also
discovered that the District was ame of the issue but had beetuctant to fix it. (1 53.)

The tardiness, beginning in East August 2015negatively impacted E.O.’s education

by reducing instructional time. (1 31.) late November, Plaintiff shared his concert
with the District, which then guisted the route allowing E.O. to arrive at school on tir
for the remainder of the school year. (1 58.)
In September 2017, Plaintiff brought thastion individually and on behalf of
E.O., alleging claims against Defendants uriet).S.C. § 1983 foviolations of IDEA,
8 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, Title Il dhe Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”),
and the equal protection guaraes of the Fourteenth Ameément to the United States
Constitution. Defendants now seek judgmemtthe pleadings puraat to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 12(c).
Il. Legal Standard

A motion for judgment on the pleadings properly granted when, taking all the

allegations in the non-movingarty’s pleadings as truéie moving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of lawFajardo v. Cty. of L.A.179 F.3d 698, 699 (9th Cir. 1999].

“Rule 12(c) is ‘functionally identical’ to Ruld2(b)(6) and . . . ‘thesame standard of
review' applies to motions bught under either rule.”"Cafasso v. Gen. Dynamics C
Sys, 637 F.3d 1047, 1054 n.4 (9th Cir. 2011) (quotwgorkin v. Hustler Magazine Inc.
867 F.2d 1188, 1192 (9th 1ICi1989)). Thus, a motion for judgment on the pleadirn

should not be granted if theomplaint contains “sufficiadnfactual matter, accepted al
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true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fad&shcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S.
662, 678 (2009) (internal quaitan marks and citation omitted).
[11. Discussion

Preliminarily, Plaintiff suggests in his response brief thatdatiteon to his claims
under § 1983, he intended to bring claim&clly under the remedial schemes for IDE/
the Rehabilitation Act, and the ADA. (Doc. 185} The Court disagrees. Fairly rea
Plaintiff's complaint states claims underl883 only. The Coutiherefore will analyze
Defendants’ motion with respect to the claiRlaintiff actually alleged, and will addres

Plaintiff's proposed claims in the conteddthis request for leave to amend.

Section 1983 creates a cause of actionnagiany person who, under color of stafe

law, deprives another of any rights, prigés, or immunities secured by the Constituti
and laws of the United StatesSection 1983 isiot a source of substantive rights b
merely a method for vindicating fed rights established elsewhei@raham v. Conngr
490 U.S. 386, 393-94 (1989). To state anclander 8§ 1983, a plaintiff must allege “(1
that a right secured by theo@stitution or the laws of the United States was violated,
(2) that the alleged violatiomas committed by a person actimgder color of State law.”
Long v. Cty. of L.A442 F.3d 1178, 118®th Cir. 2006).

Here, Plaintiff seeks to hold the Distrand individually named defendants Iiab:Le

under 8§ 1983 for violatindDEA, the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and the Equ
Protection Clause. (Doc. 11 62-69.) Defendants argukat they are entitled to
judgment on the pleadings for two reasof; Plaintiff lacks sinding to assert a
Fourteenth Amendment violation on E.Obghalf and (2) 8§ 1983 cannot be used
address violations of IDEA, the ADA, arntle Rehabilitation Act because each staty
includes a comprehensive remedial scheme. The Court agrees.

A. Fourteenth Amendment

At the outset, Plaintiff may not bringvécarious Fourteenth Amendment claim fc
injuries suffered by E.O. Plaintiff has nasserted violations diis own constitutional

rights and E.O.’s claims are “personatiazannot be asserted vicariouslyddohns v. Cty
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of San Diegp 114 F.3d 874, 876 (9th Cir. 1997)Plaintiff may bring a Fourteenth

Amendment claim on E.O.'s bdhas a legal guardian undéted R. Civ. P. 17(c).
Plaintiff, however, may naepresent E.O. pro sdohns 114 F.3d at 87%&ee also Buran
v. Riggs 5 F. Supp. 3d 1212 (D. Nev. 2014) @ag that a father could not bring a
1983 action against a school district allegviolation of the EquaProtection clause on
his minor son’s behalf). PIl&iff's own Fourteenth Amendmertaim, to the extent that
he brings one, is dismissedr flack of standing. Plaintiff<laim on behalf of E.O. is
dismissed because he may not repreBeD. pro se in federal court.

B. Statutory Claims

Violations of federal law may not kddressed through § 1983 if “Congress h
foreclosed citizen enforcememt the enactment itself, eithexplicitly, or implicitly by
imbuing it with its own compteensive remedial schemeBuckley v. City of Redding6
F.3d 188, 190 (9th Cir. 1995)Each of the federal statut€aintiff alleges Defendants
violated include remedial schemes that are sufficiently compsares to foreclose
enforcement under § 19835eeC.O. v. Potland Pub. Sch.679 F.3d 1162, 1166 (9th
Cir. 2012) (“We have repeatedly heldaththe IDEA creates a ‘comprehensiy
enforcement scheme . . . ?’\Vinson v. Thoma<88 F.3d 1145, Bb (9th Cir. 2002)
(“[A] plaintiff cannot bring an action unde42 U.S.C. § 1983 . . . to vindicate right
created by Title 1l of the ADA or section 5@4 the Rehabilitation AC”). Accordingly,
Defendants are entitled to judgnt on Plaintiff's § 1983 claimgredicated on violations
of IDEA, ADA, and the Rehabilitation Act.
V. Leaveto Amend

Having determined that the roplaint fails to state a gmizable claim, the Court
must consider whether to grant Plaintiff lese amend. Rule 15(a)(2) requires the Co
to “freely give leave when giice so requires.” Leave e not be granted, howevel

“where the amendment of tikemplaint would cause the oppng party undue prejudice

? Plaintiff relies onW.B. v. Matula67 F.3d 48 3d_Cir._1995gf0r_the proposition

that Congress intended1®83 be used to adeBs IDEA violations, but in 2007 the Thir

8{1an r%\(/)%r%ed itself on that issuBeeA.W. v. Jersey City Pub. Sch86 F.3d 791, 799
ir. :
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Is sought in bad faith, constitutes an ex& in futility, or creates undue delayAscon
Props., Inc. v. Mobil Oil C.866 F.2d 1149, 1160 (9t@Gir. 1989). Here, Plaintiff

suggests he can amend to ‘lseedress for violations und@itle Il and Section 505 [sic]

for the money damages currenfigsed under Section 1983 in the original complaint | . .

" (Doc. 18 at 6.)
At the outset, the Court notes that Piiffipreviously had an opportunity to amen
the complaint but chose not o so. Specifically, th&€ourt issued an order or

September 26, 2017, stating, in relevant part:

1. Before the filing of anymotion to dismiss under Rule
12(b)(6), the parties must confer in good faith to determine
whether the motion can be avaiderhe duty to confer also
applies to parties appearing m®. Defendant shall explain to
Plaintiff the reasons why Daidant believeshe complaint
fails to state a claim for refie The parties shall discuss
whether the deficiencies identified by Defendant can be cured
through an amended complaintf the parties agree on this
point, Plaintiff shall file an ppropriate amended complaint in
order to avoid the filing of annnecessary motion to dismiss.

2. NotwithstandingPlaintiff's belief that the complaint is
sufficient to state a claim for lief, or Defendant’s belief that
the complaint is no curable, if Plaintiff believes that a
permissible amendment can cw@me or all of the purported
deficiencies identified by Defemut, Plaintiff is encouraged
to file an amended comﬁlalmontamlng all  further
allegations Plaintiff could makeThis would avoid the need
for Plaintiff to seek leaveto amend should the Court
determine that the motion thsmiss is well taken.

(Doc. 6 (emphasis added).) Consistent with this order, before filing their motion

judgment on the pleadings, Dattants informed Plaintiff ofhe issues they planned ft

raise. (Doc. 16 at 11.) Rather than amleisccomplaint to address the perceived defeg

Plaintiff chose to press his cuntecomplaint and let the Courile on the issues raised b
Defendants. By requesting leave to amend,n@laintiff has flouted the Court’s priof
order in an attempt to have another bitetred apple. Plaintiff's decision to foregq
amending his complaint until after Defemti incurred the expense of moving fq
judgment on the pleadings hesused undue delay. Plaffi§ request for leave to amenc

also violates Local Rule 15.1, which regsir@ party who moves for leave to amend
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“attach a copy of the proposed amended pleadsgn exhibit to & motion, which must
indicate in what respect it differs frothe pleading which it amends].]”

Notwithstanding these defects, the Gobmas considered Plaintiff's propose

[®N

amendments and findseth are futile for a number oéasons. Monetary damages canrjot

be awarded in a suit brought under IDEAortland Pub. Sch.679 F.3d at 1166.
Although prospective janctive relief is available unddDEA, the bus tardiness issut
has already been resely by a new bussing arrangemektoreover, Plaintiff already has
filed three IDEA due process complaints the bussing issue. d&htiff appealed the
administrative ruling to this Court in a easow pending before Judge Diane Humetey
(Doc. 1 inOskowis v. Sedona Oak-Creek Unified Sch. Dist. 3#97-cv-08070-PCT-
DJH.) The complaint in that case imdkes an identical claim about E.O.'s bt
transportation brought under IDEA.

Even if Plaintiff's IDEA claim was not ¢tently pending before another judge, I
would be barred from raising the issue in th&ése at this time. IDEA due proces
appeals must be filed within 35 days ofuding. Ariz. Admin. Code R7-2-405(H)(8).
The deadline to appéthe most recent administragivuling, rendered March 28, 2017
expired over a year ago on May 2, 201Accordingly, Plaintif's proposed IDEA
amendment is futile.

Plaintiff also lacks standing to bring aach directly under Title Il of the ADA or
8 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. Winklemanthe Supreme Court held that IDEA gran
parents independent rights that may be enforced by parents themsélirddeman v.
Parma City School Dist550 U.S. 516, 516 (2007). Thasghts are co-extensive with &
child’s right to a FAPE, not merelymited to procedral matters.ld. The Ninth Circuit
later found similar independemights in Title Il and 8 504which Plaintiff cites to
support the contention that he mayngra claim under either statuteBlanchard v.
Morton School Dist. 509 F.3d 934, 938 (9th Cir. @D). Importantly, however, the
parent inBlanchardincurred expenses (lost wages) faer child’s benefit, creating ar

independent cograble injury. Id. The Ninth Circuit therefore found that the parent h

-6 -

\D

Va.

IS

S

[S

L




© 00 N O O b~ W DN B

N NN N NN NNDNRRR R R R R B B
0w ~N O OO0 W NP O © 00N O 0 W N B O

standing insofar as she “[was] asserting anfibrcing the rights of her son and incurrin
expenses for his benefit.Id.; see also Greater L.A. Cocihon Deafness, Inc. v. Zolin
812 F.2d 1103, 1115 (9th 1ICi1987) (declining to followa ruling prohibiting a father

from suing under 8§ 504 “to the extent itepented the fathefrom recovering the

expenses he incurred . . ."Here, unlike inBlanchard Plaintiff alleges no independent

injury but seeks instead toe compensated for his son’s lost instructional fim€his
injury belongs to E.O., howey, and Plaintiff cannot vindicate E.O.’s rights pro se. N
has Plaintiff cited case law in which a colmas found a parerib have suffered an
independent injury withut an incurred expenée. Plaintiffs’ proposed amendments
therefore, are futile.
V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Court dsses Plaintiff's Fourteenth Amendmer

claims (1) for lack of standingo the extent Plaintiff isteempting to bring a claim on his

own behalf, and (2) because RBl&f cannot represent E.O. @ise, to the extent he i$

seeking to vindicate E.O.’s constitutionagihris. The Court also grants judgment f
Defendants on all alleged staity violations because their remedial schemes precl
enforcement via 8§ 1983. Fingllleave to amend is denidecause Plaintiff's proposeq

amendments would betfle. Accordingly,

IT IS ORDERED that Defendants’ motion for glgment on the pleadings (Dod.

16) isGRANTED as follows:

1. The Clerk shall enter judgment irvéa of Defendants and against Plaintiff o
Plaintiff's 8§ 1983 claim predicated on allegeiolations of IDEA, Title 1l of the ADA,
and 8§ 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.

I
I

_ 3E.O.’s bus route was revised after a singiail. (Doc. 1 1 48.) Plaintiff cannd
credibly allege that the time and energguieed to write one eail was an “incurred
expense” for his son’s benefit.

* Punitive damages cannot be awarded suit brought undeFitle 11 of the ADA
or 8 504 of the Rmabilitation Act. Barnes v. Gormarb36 U.S. 181, 189-90 (2002).
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2. The Clerk shall dismiss without pudjce Plaintiff's 8§ 1983 claim predicate(
on alleged violations of the BEdeenth Amendment. If Pldiff wishes to reassert this

claim on E.O.’s behalf in a new lawsthe must do so through counsel.

Dated this 21st daof June, 2018.
44@- 2 M
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